### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,		
Appellant,		
v.	Case No.	
		5D02-503
JAMES OTTE		
Appellee.		
	/	

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT
AND THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

BELLE B. SCHUMANN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 397024 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5<sup>th</sup>

Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax (386) 238-4997

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

Floor

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee James Otte, with others not part of this appeal<sup>1</sup>, was charged in an information containing 93 counts, filed October 16, 2000, with racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, both first degree felonies, and 35 counts of the third degree felony of deriving support from prostitution, as well as several prostitution related misdemeanors. (V1 p. 117-191). The information alleged that between January 1, 1999 and September 26, 2000, the defendants were employed by or associated with the business operating under the name of Elegant Encounters, which was an enterprise under the racketeering statute. Specific predicate acts were alleged, including over 90 predicate offenses in furtherance of the organized criminal activity. The information was amended on January 18, 2002, to add two felony counts, including a charge of procuring a minor for prostitution. (V6 p. 1012-1074).

On December 15, 2000, the Application and Affidavit for
An Order Authorizing the Interception of Wire, Oral and
Electronic Communications was filed. (V2-3 p. 258-395) This
affidavit detailed the structure of the racketeering activity,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Otte's wife, Diane Fratello, was initially a party below, but presented no appearance in the appeal. The appeal became moot as to Fratello when she "entered a plea in the underlying criminal prosecution and was sentenced accordingly." <u>State v. Otte</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D134, n. 1 (Dec. 27, 2002).

and specifically alleged violations of Chapter 895. It alleged that cocaine and other controlled substances were provided to customers upon request.

The affidavit repeatedly alleged that Cheryl England and Diane Fratello Otte were managing a common pool of prostitutes. (e.g., R 818) The telephone records indicate that these women called each other frequently. (R 323) During one four month period from March 25 to July 25, 2000, there were 4,145 calls to the cellular phone owned by Fratello, and more calls on the private home line listed in the name of her husband, Appellee James Otte. (R 304-306, 317) Of these 4,145 calls, 2,565 calls were incoming calls. (R 317) Assuming this four month time period is customary traffic for the escort business, and assuming that only one half of these incoming calls were to arrange prostitution services, the resulting average is more than ten customers per day. At the rate of \$150 per customer, the gross annual income is in excess of \$500,000 a year, with half of that amount going directly to Appellee and his wife. Another attempt to estimate the annual income to Elegant Encounters, based upon one prostitute's estimation of three "dates" a day, resulted in an annual income of \$162,000, with half of that amount being paid to Appellee and his wife. (R 363-365) Sixteen prostitutes who

worked for Appellee were identified by name as a result of the investigation; several more were unidentified or only known by nicknames. The affidavit alleged that they were escort services managers, arranging liaisons, providing money laundering, hiring surveillance from private investigators, recruiting prostitute/employees, and other services necessary to maintain the business operation.

The order authorizing the wiretap was rendered December 15, 2000, and specifically found probable cause to believe that the defendants were committing violations of the Florida racketeering and money laundering statutes. (V3 p. 396-409) The district court's decision acknowledged and accepted this factual finding. "Upon review, the trial court granted the State's application, finding that probable cause existed to believe Otte was violating Florida's RICO statute by virtue of his actions which included the management and direction of prostitutes and the clients of prostitutes." State v. Otte, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D134 (Fla. 5th DCA Dec. 27, 2002).

On July 2, 2001, the defendant filed a motion to find the oral intercepts facially invalid. (V6 p. 931-934; V12 p. 2134-2138) This motion alleged that the wiretap in this case was invalid because the federal statute delegating the power to wiretap for certain offenses did not include RICO, and RICO

based on prostitution-related offenses was not dangerous to life, limb or property. The State filed a response in opposition, and a supporting memorandum of law. (V6 p. 1075-1096)

The trial court entertained argument on the defense motion on January 23, 2002, and reserved ruling. (V1 p. 60-84) The order granting the motion was rendered February 14, 2002. (V11 p. 2043-2049) In this order, the trial court acknowledged that the August 21, 2000, order authorizing the interception of wire, oral and electronic communications specifically found probable cause to believe that the Defendants had committed the offenses of racketeering under chapter 895 and money laundering under chapter 896. (V11 p. 2043) The trial court determined that based upon State v. <u>Rivers</u>, 660 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1995), wiretaps were not permissible for prostitution related offenses, even when the felony prostitution counts are alleged as part of a racketeering enterprise. "As such, this Court finds that the interception of communications based on racketeering offenses with predicates of non-violent prostitution-related acts contravenes 18 U.S.C. §2516(2)." (V11 p. 2048) Nor was the fact that money laundering counts were alleged as predicate offenses for the RICO satisfy the statute. "(T)his Court also finds that an alleged money laundering violation, where non-violent prostitution-related offenses are the source of the money laundering, may not be permitted to bootstrap prostitution-related conduct into the category of crimes dangerous to life, limb or property in order to authorize a wiretap." (V11 p. 2048)

The State sought timely review in the district court.

"Concluding that the trial court properly determined that the wiretap intercepts were unauthorized under federal or state law, we affirm." State v. Otte, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D134 (Fla. 5th DCA Dec. 27, 2002). The decision acknowledged that the wiretap statute specifically authorized electronic interception based upon probable cause for "any violation of chapter 895 (RICO)," or any violation of the money laundering statute. § 934.07, Fla. Stat. (1999). Nevertheless, the decision below determined that

Here, no allegation was made that Otte's prostitution-related offenses involved any violence or the threat of violence and thus, in granting Otte's motion to suppress, the trial court ruled that the interception of communications based on racketeering offenses with predicates of nonviolent prostitution-related acts contravenes federal law. The State challenges this ruling, arguing that the wiretap was permitted

under federal law because racketeering is a felony which, by its nature, is necessarily dangerous to life, limb, or property because it involves claims of organized criminal activity and therefore falls within the "dangerous to life" general category of the federal statute. We disagree.

State v. Otte, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D134 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA Dec. 27, 2002)

The State timely filed a motion pursuant to rule 9.330, which was denied by order entered January 28, 2003. This timely filed appeal follows.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has appellate jurisdiction in this case because the district court's decision declared invalid the portion of the wiretap statute that permits electronic interception where, as here, there is probable cause to believe that "any" violation of chapter 895 has occurred, without regard to the "dangerousness" of the underlying predicate offense for the RICO charge. §934.07, Fla. Stat. (1999); see also, State v. Rivers, 660 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1995). Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii). Instead, the district court's decision requires an ad hoc determination of whether the validly charged RICO offenses include predicate crimes that are intrinsically "dangerous to life, limb or property." This ruling is presumptively incorrect and subject to de novo review.

Racketeering and money laundering are separate crimes from the objects of the criminal enterprise which generates illegal money. The fact that criminals organize with an identifiable, continuous structure to commit criminal offenses is dangerous to life, limb, or property. The Legislature made this specific factual finding when enacting the RICO statute. Where there is a finding of probable cause in the wiretap order that violations of chapters 895 and 896 are occurring,

the wiretap is permitted by Florida statute. The statutory authorization does not exceed the authority delegated by Congress because racketeering and money laundering are first degree felonies that are dangerous to life, limb, or property.

The lower courts' overreading of the Rivers decision is presumptively incorrect because it invalidates the wiretap statute to the extent that it permits wiretaps for racketeering based on "non-violent" predicate offenses. Court should reverse the lower courts' orders because organized crime is by definition dangerous to life, limb, or property, regardless of the source of income from the illegal criminal enterprise. This criminal organization was related in the application for a wiretap, and the issuing magistrate found probable cause for RICO and money laundering operations, which squarely fall within the wiretap statute. The Rivers case implicitly acknowledged that organized crime with prostitution related predicate offenses was within the ambit of the wiretap statute. The State seeks reversal of this incorrect ruling that improperly expands the holding of Rivers to include RICO and money laundering offenses where even part of the enterprise involves prostitution related offenses.

#### POINT ON APPEAL

RACKETEERING IS A DANGEROUS CRIME, NO MATTER WHAT PREDICATE OFFENSES ARE ALLEGED, SUCH THAT WIRETAPS ARE AUTHORIZED TO INVESTIGATE RACKETEERING.

This Court has appellate jurisdiction in this case because the district court's decision declared invalid the portion of the wiretap statute that permits electronic interception where there is probable cause to believe that "any" violation of chapter 895 has occurred, without regard to the "dangerousness" of the underlying predicate offense for the RICO charge. §934.07, Fla. Stat. (1999); see also, State v. Rivers, 660 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1995). Fla.R.App.P.

The issue involved in this case is one of statutory construction, which is reviewed by this court de novo.

Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 1999). Since the lower courts determined that the statute was an invalid exercise of the authority delegated by Congress insofar as it relates to wiretapping for RICO predicated on "non-violent" predicate offenses, there is no presumption of correctness, but rather, the trial court's order is presumed to be incorrect. See, State v. Slaughter, 574 So.2d 218 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

The lower courts erred in their interpretation of <u>State</u>

v. Rivers, 660 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1995), by failing to recognize that organized crime is dangerous, whether prostitution-related offenses are all or part of the object of the criminal organization. Where, as here, a judge determines that there is probable cause to believe that criminal violations of RICO and money laundering are taking place, chapter 934 authorizes a wiretap to investigate those dangerous offenses.

Section 18 U.S.C. §2516(2) authorizes state prosecutors to intercept wire, oral or electronic communications upon an order finding "...evidence of the commission of the offense of murder, kidnaping, gambling, robbery, bribery, extortion, or dealing in narcotic drugs, marihuana or other dangerous drugs, or other crime dangerous to life, limb, or property, and punishable by imprisonment for more than one year..." (V12 p. 2160-2161) Pursuant to this delegated authority, the Florida Legislature permits wiretaps "when such interception may provide...evidence of the commission of...any violation of chapter 893;...any violation of chapter 895; (or) any violation of chapter 896." §934.07, Fla. Stat. (1999).

In this case, the order authorizing the wiretap specifically found probable cause to believe that violations of chapter 895 (RICO) and chapter 896 (money laundering) were occurring. The affidavit also alleged that as part of the

prostitution services, the escorts provided controlled substances to customers, which is a violation of chapter 893.

In <u>State v. Rivers</u>, 660 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1995) this Court held that section 934.07, Florida Statutes (1991), was invalid to the extent that it permitted wiretaps to investigate prostitution. Although prostitution was dangerous to life, limb, or property, it was a misdemeanor, not punishable by more than one year. Prostitution related felonies, including deriving proceeds from prostitution, satisfied the second prong, but were not dangerous to life, limb or property. The fact that racketeering had been subsequently charged did not save the wiretap in <u>Rivers</u>, because the only evidence to support the RICO charge was developed as a result of the invalid wiretap. Florida's statute exceeded the authority delegated by Congress to the extent that it permitted wiretaps for prostitution.

The lower courts erred in relying on <u>Rivers</u> to invalidate the wiretap in this case. Racketeering and money laundering was alleged at the outset, and the trial judge issuing the wiretap order specifically found probable cause to believe that RICO and illegal financial offenses were occurring.

Racketeering and conspiracy to commit racketeering are crimes

which are dangerous to life, limb, or property. It does not matter whether the predicate offenses for the criminal organization include prostitution related offenses.

The threat created by organized criminal activity renders racketeering dangerous to life, limb, or property. From the outset, the legislature has recognized that "organized crime...uses vast amounts of money, power and all the techniques of violence, intimidation and other forms of unlawful conduct to accomplish its goals." Ch. 77-334, Laws of Fla. p. 1400. The fact that the criminal enterprise generates large sums of illegally obtained money "harms innocent investors...and thereby constitutes a substantial danger to the economic and general welfare of the State of Florida." Id. These legislative findings demonstrate that RICO and money laundering present a danger over and above the crimes that generate the illegal income.

The requirement that racketeering prosecutions be focused upon ongoing organizations which function as a continuing unit insures that all RICO charges by definition create a danger to life, limb or property. See, Gross v. State, 765 So.2d 29 (Fla. 2000); State v. Berjerano, 760 So.2d 218 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000). The trial court erred in determining that organized criminal activity encompassed under racketeering laws is not a

valid subject of wiretapping. Indeed, the wiretapping statute itself makes the legislative finding that organized criminal activity is a proper subject of wiretaps. "Organized criminals make extensive use of wire and oral communications in their criminal activities. The interception of such communications to obtain evidence of the commission of crimes or to prevent their commission is an indispensable aid to law enforcement and the administration of justice." §934.01(3), Fla. Stat. (2001).

Appellee would have this Court ignore the specific legislative finding that organized crime is dangerous, instead opting for an ad hoc evaluation of which portions of criminal enterprises are dangerous to life, limb or property so as to fall within the ambit of the wiretap statute. The lower courts implicitly found that prostitution is not dangerous, even where it is conducted as part of a large scale RICO operation. As with conspiracy, Appellant contends that the danger arises from the combination of dozens of persons to generate hundreds of thousands of dollars. It is the organization of criminals that creates the danger, not simply the underlying objects of the criminal enterprise. The decision below ignores the plain language of the wiretap statute which permits intercepts for any violation of Chapter

895.

The State contends that organized crime is by definition dangerous to life, limb or property, regardless of the specific predicate offenses alleged. This argument was specifically presented below. "The State challenges this ruling, arguing that the wiretap was permitted under federal law because racketeering is a felony which, by its nature, is necessarily dangerous to life, limb, or property because it involves claims of organized criminal activity and therefore falls within the 'dangerous to life' general category of the federal statute. We disagree." State v. Otte, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D134 (Fla. 5th DCA Dec. 27, 2002).

The decision below rejected this argument based in part on a discredited federal case for the proposition that RICO offenses based upon prostitution related offenses are not the proper subject of wiretaps. <u>United States v. Millstone</u>, 684 F.Supp. 867 (W.D. PA. 1988). This case was reversed by the United States Court of Appeal on other grounds, but the appellate court expressly declined to endorse the lower court's ruling that the wiretap was unauthorized. <u>United States v. Millstone</u>, 864 F.2d 21, 24 (3rd Cir. 1988). When the case returned to state court, Pennsylvania courts repeatedly upheld the convictions for racketeering, and rejected the

contention that the wiretap was impermissible under federal law. Commonwealth v. Birdseye, 637 A.2d 1036 (Pa. 1994);

Commonwealth v. Birdseye, 670 A.2d 1124 (Pa. 1996), cert.

denied, Birdseye v. Pennsylvania, 518 U.S. 1019 (1996).

The <u>Millstone</u> holding was further discredited when it was rejected by another federal district court in <u>United States v.</u>

<u>Marcy</u>, 777 F.Supp 1400 , 1402 (N.D.Ill. 1991). That court accepted the State's argument advanced herein, namely, that the allegation of violations of the racketeering statute permitted the wiretap, regardless of the fact that the predicate offenses were not within the ambit of the wiretap statute.

It is clear that successful racketeering prosecutions can be based on criminal enterprises involving prostitution in both state and federal court. See, e.g., United States v.

McLaurin, 557 F.2d 1064 (5th Cir. 1977); Vaughn v. State, 711

So.2d 64 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998); Golden v. State, 578 So.2d 480

(Fla. 2d DCA 1991); Cantrell v. State, 403 So.2d 977 (Fla. 1981). All of these cases affirm convictions for racketeering where the predicate offenses are prostitution related. It is equally clear that the racketeering crimes are separate from the underlying predicate offenses; a defendant can be convicted both of racketeering and the offenses alleged to be

predicates of the RICO as separate counts. <u>Carroll v. State</u>, 459 So.2d 368 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1984). Therefore, the lower courts erred by failing to consider that the racketeering offenses were dangerous to life, limb, or property separate and apart from the offenses alleged to be the object of the organized crime scheme.

#### CONCLUSION

Based upon the argument and authority presented, the decision affirming the order granting the motion to suppress evidence must be reversed and this case remanded for further proceedings.