IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

Case No.: SC03 - 330 Lower Tribunal Case No.: 5 D02 - 503

v.

JAMES OTTE

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

AND THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE OTTE

GERARD F. KEATING Florida Bar No. 328571 318 Silver Beach Avenue Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 252 - 2501 Fax : (386) 252 - 2330 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE JAMES OTTE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
POINT ON APPEAL - ISSUE ONE- OBJECT TO JURISDICTION 6
POINT ON APPEAL - ISSUE TWO
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases:</u>
Berjerano vs. State, 760 So. 2d 218(Fla. 5 th DCA 2000)
<u>Cantrell vs. State</u> , 403 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 1981)
<u>Carroll vs. State</u> , 459 So. 2d 368 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1984)
<u>Golden vs. State</u> , 578 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 2 nd DCA 1991)
<u>Gross v. State</u> , 765 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 2000)
<u>State v. Otte,</u> 28 Fla. L. Weekly D. 134 (December 27, 2002)
<u>State vs. Rivers</u> , 660 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1995)
State v. Rivers, 643 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1994)
<u>State vs. Slaughter</u> , 574 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1991)
<u>Stephens vs. State</u> , 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999)

<u>Vaughn vs. State</u> , 711 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1998)
<u>In re; Grand Jury Investigation</u> 287 So. 2d 483 (Fla. 1972)
Other Authority:
§ 934.07, Fla. Stat (1999)
18 U.S.C. § 2516 (2) (2001)
18 U.S.C. § 2516 (1) (2001)
Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Appellee accepts as substantially accurate the Appellant's statement of the case and facts except for page 2 lines 11 - 17 "Assuming this four month time period is customary traffic for the escort business, and assuming that only one half of these incoming calls were to arrange prostitution services, the resulting average is more than ten customers per day. At the rate of \$150 per customer, the gross annual income is in excess of \$500,000 a year, with half of that amount going directly to Appellee and his wife." Appellee objects to the State's assumptions because they are speculative, lack a foundation or predicate and are not supported by the record.

The one hundred thirty (130) page Application And Affidavit For An Order

Authorizing The Interception Of Wire Oral And Electronic Communications filed

on December 15, 2000 has the following very limited information about JAMES

OTTE.

"JAMES OTTE, also known as James Adrian Otte, is a 49 year old white male, date of birth May 2, 1951, social security number 057 - 44- 9603. Based upon your Affiant's investigation, surveillance, public records and investigative subpoenas your Affiant knows the following: Otte lives with his spouse, Diane Fratello (Paragraph 16), at 1346 Providence Boulevard in Deltona, Volusia County, Florida. Otte has two adult children from a prior marriage that live elsewhere. Otte has no identifiable criminal history. Your Affiant obtained by subpoena information from the State of Florida, Department of Labor and Unemployment Security, Bureau of Tax, regarding any employment for James Otte from April 1, 1999, through April 1, 2000 (Exhibit 108). Otte was employed by the County of Volusia from 1998 through the second quarter of 1999. During the last two quarters of 1999 James Otte was employed by the State of Florida Department of Corrections in Marianna, Florida, and in Gainesville, Florida. As of June 21, 2000, James Otte is still a state correctional officer, but is now stationed at the Tomoka Correctional Institute in Daytona Beach. There is no Volusia County Occupational license or application on file for James Otte. Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicle records reflect that James Otte owns a 1997 Ford F 150 pick up truck with Florida license GS880S, a 1984 Yamaha Motorcycle with Florida license 25397V and a 1997 Ford Ranger pick up truck with Florida license WPY38G." (R 277, 278)... (R 357) "James Otte (paragraph 17) was observed in and out of the house

in

their front lawn several times. . . .

... 150 "Your Affiant has obtained banking records, through subpoena for James Otte (paragraph 17) ... (R 363) 151 Based upon available public records and subpoenaed financial records from institutions identified through this investigation a basic net worth analysis has been conducted for Diane Fratello (paragraph 16) and her spouse James Otte (paragraph 17) Exhibit 153. The information, in your affiant's judgment, is far from complete, but further information is only likely to be obtained by search warrant for

documents at the home of Diane Fratello (paragraph 16) and James Otte (paragraph 17) or through subpoena to local, (in town) institutions which could compromise this investigation because of the unknown level of intimacy with Fratello and Otte. . . . For the year 1999 Diane Fratello (paragraph 16) and James Otte (paragraph 17) jointly had assets estimated at \$131,343.00 and liabilities estimated at \$39,966.00 and a net worth of \$91,377.00. "(R 364)

Those are the only instances in which Otte is mentioned by the affiant Greg Arthur in his application. Otte had obviously little or no connection to the alleged non-violent criminal activities which were the subject matter of the wiretap.

The other 128 pages of the affidavit detailed the actions of co-defendant Diane Fratello and her escort service, Elegant Encounters and PartyGals, the escort service run by Cheryl England. Otte is barely mentioned. There is no mention of any criminal wrongdoing by Otte in the application. The Affidavit and Order authorizing the wiretap fail to allege any prostitution related violence or threat of violence or any crimes that are dangerous to life, limb or property. The extensive record put together by the State gives no indication of any substantial criminal enterprise dangerous to life, limb or property. Although the affidavit specifically alleged that cocaine and other controlled substances were provided to customers upon request, there was no finding of the existence of any dangerous drugs in the Order approving application. Ultimately, no cocaine or other controlled substances were ever found by law enforcement to have been provided to customers upon request and no drug charges were ever filed. The application made no connection between Fratello and others in the alleged enterprise and James Otte. The connection between Fratello and Otte in the application is very limited identifying him as the Husband. The application fails to allege any other incriminating facts about Otte. There is no relationship established between co-defendant Diane Fratello a/k/a Diane Otte and Cheryl England. There was no basis for the Order authorizing the intercept of James Otte's communications. There was no sufficient allegation of Otte's criminal wrongdoing nor any violence nor threat of violence in the application or in the return to justify the Order. The facts presented in the application and the affidavit were insufficient to justify the intercept regarding Otte.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court does not have appellate jurisdiction in this case. The appellee objects to jurisdiction and moves to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction. The appellee has previously filed a Motion To Object To Jurisdiction And Motion To Dismiss For Lack Of Jurisdiction. The district court's decision did not declare invalid the portion of the wiretap statute. Fla. Stat. 934.07 (Fla. Stat. 1999). The district court agreed with the trial court ruling that the interception of communications based on racketeering offenses with predicates of non-violent prostitution related acts contravenes federal law. The District Court concluded that the trial court properly determined that the wiretap intercepts were unauthorized under Federal or State Law and affirmed. The district court's ruling is presumptively correct. The district court ruled as a matter of law. After conducting an evidentiary hearing the trial court ruled that the police lacked legal authority to obtain a warrant since the charges were all centered around alleged prostitution activities. The district court's ruling should be affirmed because it correctly applies the controlling law as set forth in <u>State vs. Rivers</u>, 660 So. 2nd 1360 (Fla. 1995). The state's application and the wiretap order itself failed to allege any violence or threat of violence nor danger to life, limb or property for these prostitution related offenses.

POINT ON APPEAL

ISSUE ONE - OBJECT TO JURISDICTION

This court does not have appellate jurisdiction in this case. Appellee objects to jurisdiction and moves to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction. Appellee incorporates by reference his Motion to Object To Jurisdiction And Motion To Dismiss For Lack Of Jurisdiction. The district court's decision did not declare invalid Florida Statute 934.07 (1999). In the Federal wiretap statute, Congress specifically preempted the field of interception of wire communications under its power to regulate interstate communications, yet at the same time authorized the individual states to adopt their own wiretap statute so long as they were not less restrictive than the federal legislation. The finding that Section 934.07 of the Florida Statutes

to a limited extent contravenes the requirements of title 18 USC Section 2516 (2) does not declare unconstitutional the Florida wiretap statute.

Neither the trial court nor the District Court ruled Fla. Stat. 934.07 (1999) invalid. " Courts may preserve the constitutionality of an act by eliminating an invalid portion under the severability rule." <u>State vs. Rivers</u>, 643 So. 2nd 3 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)

This court has also held that Florida's wiretap statute must be strictly construed and narrowly limited in its application by the specific provisions set out by the legislature. <u>In Re Grand Jury Investigation</u> 287 So. 2nd 483 (Fla. 1972)

Neither the trial court nor the Fifth District Court of Appeal entered an order or a decision declaring invalid a state statute or a state provision of the constitution.

The district court determined that one part of the statute was an invalid exercise of the authority delegated from Congress and was pre-empted by Congress.

This court should deny jurisdiction and remand to the trial court.

POINT ON APPEAL

ISSUE TWO

FLORIDA'S WIRETAPPING STATUTE § 934.07, Fla. Stat. (1999) DOES NOT AUTHORIZE WIRETAPS TO INVESTIGATE NON VIOLENT PROSTITUTION RELATED OFFENSES WITHOUT CONTRAVENING THE REQUIREMENTS OF 18 U.S.C. § 2516 (2).

The District Court did not find § 934.07 Fla. Stat. (1999) unconstitutional.

The Trial Court and District Court looked at the plain meaning of § 934.07 Fla.

Stat. (1999) and construed it consistent with controlling Federal Statute 18 U.S.C.

§ 2516 (2) as construed by the Florida Supreme Court in State vs. Rivers, 660 So.

2d 1360 (Fla. 1995). The District Court opinion is correct and should be affirmed.

Regarding the standard of review the appellant relies on <u>Stephens vs. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999). <u>Stephens</u> was a case alleging ineffective assistance of counsel under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The issue in <u>Stephens</u> was what is the standard of appellate review for ineffective assistance of counsel claims. The ruling in <u>Stephens</u> was that an alleged ineffective assistance of counsel claim was a mixed question of law and fact subject to the plenary review based on <u>Strickland vs.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80, L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). The claim and procedural status of <u>Stephens</u> are much different than the instant case and is distinguished from the instant case.

The Appellant relies on <u>State vs. Slaughter</u>, 574 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) for the proposition that the District Court's opinion is presumed to be incorrect. <u>Slaughter</u> was charged with unlawfully threatening unlawful harm to a public servant - a Circuit Judge. <u>Slaughter</u> moved to dismiss the information. The Circuit Court dismissed the information on the grounds that the Statute creating the offense was unconstitutional. The State appealed. The District Court of Appeal reversed and found the Statute constitutional. In the instant case the District Court did not make any express findings that § 934.07 Fla. Stat. (1999) was unconstitutional, unlike the <u>Slaughter</u> case. <u>Slaughter</u> says : " At the outset, an exception to the rule that a trial court's judgment is presumptively valid occurs

when an appellate court is called upon to pass upon a statute which the trial court has declared unconstitutional. " <u>Slaughter</u> does not state that the lower courts orders are presumed to be incorrect.

The District court properly relied on this Court's ruling in <u>State vs. Rivers</u>, 660 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1995). <u>Rivers</u> is on point and is controlling precedent. The Appellant finds fault in the lower courts for failing to recognize that organized crime is dangerous whether prostitution related offenses are all or part of the object of the criminal organization (Initial brief page 8). But the Application and Affidavit failed to allege anywhere that the crimes subject to the wiretap were "dangerous to life, limb, or property or that violence or a threat of violence had occurred". Law enforcement below could have obtained a wiretap authorization in conformance with the Federal Statute if the application alleged violence or threats of violence in connection with prostitution-related offenses. No violence was ever alleged.

The District Court quoted State v. Rivers, 660 So. 2d 1360 (Fla

1995) as the controlling precedent and said: "To the extent that [section] 934.07

[of the Florida Statutes] permits the authorization of wiretaps to investigate prostitution not involving the use of force or any danger to life, limb, or property, or interstate commerce, it contravenes the requirements of <u>Title 18 U.S.C. Section</u> 2516(2).

While Florida's counterpart is quite similar to the federal statute it enumerates a more expansive list of offenses where wiretaps are authorized, including prostitution. <u>§ 934.07, Fla. Stat. (1991)</u>. Thus, the district court correctly

identified the key issue as whether prostitution falls within the 'dangerous to life' general category of the federal statute.

Courts in several other jurisdictions have concluded that prostitution is not a crime dangerous to life, limb, or property under the federal wiretap statute. *See People v. Shapiro*, 50 N.Y., 2d 747,431 N.Y.S. 2d 422, 409 N.E. 2d 897 (1980); *United States v. Millstone Enters., Inc.*,684 F. Supp. 867, 870 (W.D. Pa.), *rev'd on other grounds*, 864 F.2d21 (3d Cir. 1988); *but see* Commonwealth v. Birdseye, 432 Pa. Super. 167,637 A. 2d 1036, 1040 - 41 (finding that prostitution is dangerous to life based upon the threat of AIDS), *review granted*, 538 Pa. 664, 649 A. 2d 667 (1994).

"The State argues that prostitution is dangerous to life because the virus that causes AIDS is sexually transmitted. Thus, the State contends, prostitution-related felonies such as deriving support from the proceeds of prostitution meet both prongs of the general category: dangerous to life and punishable by imprisonment for more than one year. *1363 Unquestionably, the spread of the virus that causes AIDS is a great health concern. However, this alone does not make prostitution intrinsically dangerous to life. Moreover, Congress specifically provided that the dangerous to life general category, is intended to exclude such offenses as fornication and adultery, which do not involve danger to life, limb, or property.

While we find that prostitution in general is not 'dangerous to life,' we agree with the *Millstone* and *Shapiro* courts that wiretaps could be authorized in conformance with the federal statute where the allegations of prostitution-related offenses involve violence or the threat of violence. *See Millstone*, 684 F. Supp. at 870 - 71; *Shapiro*, 431 N.Y.S. 2d at 431 - 33, 409 N.E. 2d at 907 - 08. However, under the circumstances of this case, section 934.07 cannot be read as authorizing wiretaps to investigate non-violent prostitution-related offenses without contravening the requirements of 18 U.S.C. § 2516 (2). Thus, we agree with the district court that the trial court properly suppressed the evidence obtained from the wiretaps in this case." State v. Otte 28 Fla. L. Weekly D 134 (Dec. 27, 2002).

Congress preempted the authority of the State of Florida to include the crime of prostitution in its wiretap statute. "While states may enact more stringent standards regarding the use of wiretaps within its borders, states may not allow wiretapping which exceeds the boundaries of the federal statute." . . . "The test is the sufficiency of the allegations contained in the request for the wiretap authorization, not the evidence of other crimes discovered as a result of the intercept of the communication." <u>State vs. Rivers</u> 660 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1995)

The application never alleges that Otte was involved in any crimes dangerous to life, limb or property. The procedural status of the instant case is identical to the status in <u>Rivers</u> wherein the state appealed from the trial court's order granting appellee's motion to suppress evidence obtained through an authorized wiretap. In <u>Rivers</u> the request for the wiretap order was not based on RICO. "This matter arose out of the investigation conducted by Agent McCue who was investigating an alleged prostitution ring operating in Orlando . . . McCue believed that he could not obtain the evidence necessary to prosecute these individuals without use of a wiretap surveillance. As such pursuant to § 934.09 (1a) of the Florida Statutes, McCue filed an affidavit and application for an order authorizing the interception of wire, oral and electronic communications. . . . As a result of the intercepted communications, the state charged violations of RICO, ... prostitution . . . and deriving support from the proceeds of prostitution." State v. <u>Rivers</u> 643 So. 2d 3 (5th DCA 1994)

In <u>Rivers</u> this court compared and reviewed the applicable State and Federal

statutory provisions related to the interception of communications, to wit: § 934.07 Fla. Stat. (1999) and 18 U.S.C. § 2516.

The trial court did not rule the Florida Statute invalid. Higher courts had already done so; "... Finding that courts may preserve the constitutionality of an act by eliminating an invalid portion under the severability rule." <u>Rivers</u> 5th DCA at 3.

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